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|. DEVELOPMENT OF LEGAL AND FACTUAL CONDITIONS
ENABLING THE APPLICATION OF SEVERE REPRESSIVE
PUNISHMENTS

The end, in May 1945, of World War II in Europe and the liberation of the Polish
territory from the German occupation did not bring Poland full independence.
The new authorities, recognizing the superior role of the Soviet Union, did their
best to break any resistance on the part of the society that objected to limitation
of the Polish state’s sovereignty. In order to achieve the purpose, state terror was
applied in 1944-1956".

Criminal law, enforced with the help of the system of justice and investigative
bodies ensured effective fight against political opponents. Care was taken to cre-
ate adequate conditions which would make it possible to apply severe repressions,
among others, through the enforcement of decrees passed by the Polish Committee
of National Liberation: the Criminal Code of the Polish Army? of 23 September
1944 and the Decree on the protection of the State® of 30 October 1944, with the
sanction of capital punishment in every provision, as well as the Decree of Council
of Ministers of 16 November 1945 on crimes particularly dangerous at the time of
rebuilding the country*, replaced with the Decree of the same name of 13 June 1946°
(the so-called ‘little criminal code’). The severity of repressions was further enhanced
by the Decree of the Council of Ministers of 16 November 1945 on summary
proceedings®, allowing the imposition of capital punishment or life imprisonment
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8 Maria Stanowska

regardless of whether the law provided for such punishments for a given offence,
with no possibility of appealing judgments issued in summary proceedings’.

Changes made in the criminal procedure gradually phased out the independence
of the investigating magistrate® to finally eliminate it altogether when the Code of
Criminal Procedure of 1928 was amended’. Preparatory proceedings were entrusted
to the prosecutor (or military prosecutor) and public security officers (or Polish
Army Intelligence Service officers). These bodies were also authorized to apply pre-
trial detention. This state of law made it easy to detain people in relation to whom
proceedings had not even been formally instituted. The absence of any control over
the preparatory proceedings made it possible to ruthlessly deal with real or alleged
political opponents. All too often, detention was also excessively extended. The
prosecutor’s office became actually subordinated to special services. The trial was
in turn dominated by the prosecutor who actually directed the court proceedings.
Thus, it was the public security or Military Intelligence Service authorities that
had the decisive voice in the court proceedings.

The communist authorities also had ensured monopoly in appointing judges.
The appointment of judges, with the requirement of the procedure being repeated
every year, was entrusted to the Minister of Justice. Pursuant to the Decree of 22
February 1946 on the registration and compulsory employment in the system of
justice of people qualified to take the position of a judge!’, the Minister of Justice
could, until the end of 1946, employ these people to work in the system of jus-
tice for a period of one year with a possibility of extension for another year. The
Decree, extended by subsequent amendments, remained in force until the end of
1952. In addition, what was abandoned in the Decree of 22 January 1946 on the
exceptional admission to taking the positions of judges, prosecutors and notaries as
well as to being entered on the list of attorneys-at-law!! was the previously absolute
requirement of completing university studies in law and judicial training'?. Pursu-
ant to this instrument, the Minister of Justice could, during the 5 years from the
entry in force of the Decree, appoint, among others, for the position of a judge,
a person exempt from the obligation to have law studies and judicial training. The
binding force of the Decree was also extended!s. It was thus obvious that judges of
this kind would offer full cooperation to the authorities. In addition, the hitherto
effective ban, forbidding judges from being members of a political party, resul-
ting from Article 121 of the Law on the Organization of General Courts (‘and in
particular a judge must not belong to any political faction’)!*, guaranteeing judges’

7 Summary proceedings were applied only in general courts.

8 A. Litynski, O prawie i sgdach poczqtkdéw Polski Ludowej, Biatystok, 1999, 117-122.

° Law of 27 April 1949 on Amendments to the Provisions on the Criminal Procedure, Dz.U. No. 32, item 238.

1 Dz.U. No. 9, item 65.

1 Dz.U. No. 4, item 33.

12 Interestingly, attorneys-at-law were not released from the obligation of completing law studies and passing
examinations required by the law. According to LS. Grat, the opinion of the Ministry of Justice seemed
to indicate that the abandonment of this obligation could adversely affect ‘the professional and ethical
standards of the Bar’ — LS. Grat, Uchwalenie dekretu z 22 stycznia 1946 r o wyjgtkowym dopuszczeniu
do obejmowania stanowisk sedziowskich, prokuratorskich i notarialnych oraz do wpisania na liste adwokatéw,
Miscellanea Historico-Iuridica, 6/107(2008), p. 107.

13 The last extension was made by the Law of 29 December 1951.

4 Order of the President of the Republic of Poland of 6 February 1928 — Law on the System of General Courts,
Dz.U. No. 12, item 93.
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impartiality, was repealed by the Decree of the 14 March 1945 on amendments
to the Law on the Organization of General Courts'.

The communist authorities’ lack of confidence in general courts resulted in
a significant limitation of the competence of general courts in favour of military
courts'®. The system of military courts was organized from scratch and this provided
full control over their activity. Military courts did what they were expected to do.
The sentences were very severe. There were approximately 100,000, perhaps even
150,000 of political prisoners sentenced to long-term imprisonment for anti-state
offences. In the years 1944-1947 alone, over 2,500 people were convicted to capital
punishment for political offences'. J. Pasnik reports that in 1945-1953 military
courts convicted over 81,000 people'® (including 65,000 people in 1946-1953
alone) of crimes against the state and the penalties imposed were very severe.
According to Z. Leszczyfiska, who presented profiles of the persons convicted
by the Military Court of the Garrison of Lublin and the Military Court in Lublin
in 1944-1945, at the Lublin Castle alone 210 people were sentenced to capital
punishment and 125 of them were executed. The sentenced were (apart from 26
deserters from the army) people who had fought for independence, predominantly
Home Army soldiers”. More than half of those convicted in 1950-1953 were
sentenced to imprisonment for over 5 years, life sentences, and capital punish-
ments?’. A. Lityfiski estimates that in 1945-1954 approximately 5,860 people were
sentenced to capital punishment for offences against the state and 70% of those
sentences were carried out?!.

The authorities did not stop at providing legal safeguards. What guaranteed
strict performance of the new tasks was — following the Soviet model — adequate
cadre. It was the tried and tested Soviet officers who were entrusted with the
formation of the Military Intelligence Service. At the beginning of 1946, 90.3%
of executive posts in the MIS were still occupied by Soviet officers. Although the
situation gradually changed as the Polish cadre were being prepared®, there is
no doubt that Soviet officers in the Polish Army Intelligence Service formations,
with Dmitry Voznesenski, head of the Main Board of the Polish Army Intelligence
Service, played a significant role in the development of a repressive policy in the
armed forces®. Soviet officers also acted as prosecutors in the Supreme Military
Prosecutor’s Office, judges in the Supreme Military Court, as well as advisors

5 Dz.U. No. 9, item 46.

16 It was only the Law of 5 April 1955 on the Transfer to General Courts of the Hitherto Jurisdiction of Mi-
litary Courts in Criminal Cases Concerning Civilians, Public Security Officers, Citizen’s Militia and Prison
Service (Dz.U. No. 15, item 122) that restored the jurisdiction of general courts over a vast majority of
these offences (with the exception of espionage).

7 M. Turlejska, Te pokolenia zalobami czarne... Skazani na smierc i ich sedziowie, Warszawa, 1990, 26,
106-107.

18 J. Pasnik, Prawne aspekty represji stalinowskich w Polsce, Dzi§ 7/101(1991), p. 101.

1 7. Leszczynska, Ging za to co najglebiej czlowiek ukochac moze. Skazani na kare smierci przez sqdy wojskowe
na Zamku Lubelskim (1944-1945), Lublin, 1998, 22.

20 J. Pasnik, Wybrane problemy orzecznictwa sgdéw wojskowych w sprawach o przestgpstwa przeciw paristwu
w latach 1946-1953, Materialy Historyczne 32/34(1991), 1.

2! A. Litynski, Historia prawa Polski Ludowej, Warszawa, 2008, 51.

22 The training was conducted in the Officers’ Intelligence School, opened in September 1945, whose com-
mander was Lt. Konstantin Lobanov, a Soviet officer.

2 J. Poksinski, ‘TUN’. Tatar-Utnik-Nowicki. Represje wobec oficeréw Wojska Polskiego w latach 1949-1956,
Warszawa, 1992, 62-63.
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to these bodies. It was those officers who imposed the style of work and took care
of their subordinates’ formation. They applied the Soviet interpretation of criminal
law with high repressiveness®*. It is worthwhile to point out that part of the Soviet
officers holding responsible functions in the above bodies, were put on the list of
people co-responsible for violating the rule of law in criminal proceedings®.

The role of the military prosecutor’s office consisted in issuing a decision to ap-
ply pre-trial detention not only without any evidence, but even without any contact
with the detained?®. This is confirmed in the report of the Military Prosecutor of
the Garrison in Katowice dated 20 September 1945, which reveals that in every
prison (out of the twenty in the territory covered by that prosecutor’s office), ap-
proximately 30 to 509% detainees were kept without any sanction®. Sentences which
the public security bodies did not approve of were immediately appealed against
by prosecutors and overturned by the Supreme Military Court?®. The authorities
interfered with the work of courts. A court could not interview an investigation
officer of the Public Security Office. Where the president of the adjudicating panel
did not repeal the motion to interview an investigation officer, he risked the initia-
tion of explanatory proceedings. Unsurprisingly, the security bodies demonstrated
utter contempt for the military court. Where the court returned the files of the
case with a request that the investigation be completed, pages from case files were
often torn out and new ones with new evidence were bound in%.

In addition, a quasi-court body was established with the power of passing prison
sentences (placement in a labour camp for up to 2 years)*°. Proceedings before
the Special Commission resembled inquisition trials, because the Commission
was simultaneously the body in charge of conducting preparatory proceedings
and the adjudicating body?'. Though a defence attorney could formally take part
in proceedings before the Special Commission, in practice, this was not allowed.
Moreover, the Commission’s judgments could not be appealed against. Members
of the Special Commission did not have to have legal education. Consequently, it
was easy to make them act unlawfully. And thus the Commission accepted cases
referred to it with a motion for passing a two-year labour camp sentence without
the pre-trial detention being counted towards it. This was done upon request of the
Prosecutor General’s Office. The practice was commonplace, in particular where
the pre-trial detention lasted more than two years and the point was to further

2 E. Romanowska, Karzgce ramig sprawiedliwosci ludowej. Prokuratury wojskowe w Polsce w latach 1944
—1955, Warszawa, 2012, 242.

2 Raport tzw. Komisji Mazura (Wasilewskiego), published in Gazeta Wyborcza daily on 22 January 1999.

26 J. Borowiec, Aparat bezpieczeristwa a wojskowy wymiar sprawiedliwosci. Rzeszowszczyzna 1944-1954,
Warszawa, 2004, 66.

27 E. Romanowska, n. 24 supra, 328.

28 J. Borowiec, n. 26 supra, 66.

2 J. Borowiec, Aparat bezpieczeristwa..., 179-180 and 204-206.

30 The body was established by the Decree of 16 November 1945 on the establishment and scope of activity
of the Special Commission for Fight with Economic Abuse and Sabotage (Dz.U. No. 53, item 302), repealed
by the Decree of 23 December 1954 (Dz.U. No. 57, item 282).

3! Numerous publications are available on the Special Commission. One of them seems to be particularly
valuable, the monograph by P. Fiedorczyk, Komisja Specjalna do Walki z Naduzyciami i Szkodnictwem
Gospodarczym. 1945-1954. Studium Historyczno-prawne, Bialystok, 2002. Among the latest publications,
[ would recommend the synthetic study by B. Sekscifiski, Komisja Specjalna do Walki z Naduzyciami i Szkod-
nictwem Gospodarczym (1945-1955), Roczniki Humanistyczne, LIX/2(2011), and the extensive selection
of literature to be found there.
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deprive the detainee of freedom?®. Prosecutors also referred to the Special Commis-
sion motions to place in labour camps completely innocent people (e.g. the sister
of a defected sailor, simply because her brother defected abroad)?*. The scope of
the Commission’s powers was practically unlimited. The Special Commission dealt
with what they wanted or what they were told to deal with**. After the amend-
ment to the Decree on the establishment of the Special Commission extended
the substantive jurisdiction of the Commission to include the offence of ‘causing
panic to the detriment of the interests of working people’, political offences also
came to be covered by its jurisdiction. In 1950-54, a vast majority of the penalties
were imposed for the offence defined in Article 22 of the little criminal code?®,
with almost 4,500 people placed in labour camps on this account®”. Over 84,000
persons were sentenced to labour camps by the Special Commission, while fines
were imposed on more than 200,000. Though the Special Commission could not
impose such severe penalties as courts, the fact that its powers were practically
unlimited and that in the inquisition-like trial they could send even completely
innocent people to labour camps allows one to state that the only aim of the in-
stitution was to exert intensified terror.

After 1956, more than 4,500 people convicted by the Special Commission ap-
pealed to the Prosecutor General’s Office that the judgments be overruled. Only
of a few of those appeals were granted®. Attempts at having the damage done
by judgments of the Special Commission repaired and compensation awarded
were resumed after 1989. The First President of the Supreme Court, to whom the
requests for an extraordinary revision of judgments of the Special Commission were
addressed, submitted to the Supreme Court a question of law concerning the chal-
lenging of the legally binding judgments of the Commission. The difficulty resulted
from the fact that pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Criminal Procedure
an extraordinary appeal (as well as a motion for a resumption of proceedings) was
foreseen only for legally binding judgments ending court proceedings and thus
there was a legal gap in this field. In their resolution of 21 December 1994, I KZP
33/94, the Supreme Court sitting as a panel of 7 judges declared that ‘a legally
binding adjudication terminating proceedings before the Special Commission for
Fight with Economic Abuse and Sabotage or its representative offices can be ap-
pealed against in the procedure extraordinary appeal as well as in the procedure
of resumption of proceedings™’. In the statement of reasons for the resolution, the
Court says that the solution is possible thanks to the application of analogia iuris,

32 The total imprisonment happened to last even 6 years — P. Fiedorczyk, n. 31 supra, 231.

33 The information quoted after A. Lityfski, n. 8 supra, 200-201.

34 P Fiedorcezyk, n. 31 supra, 164-165.

35 Act on 20 July 1950 on the amendment to the Decree of 16 November 1945 on the establishment and
scope of activity of the Special Commission for Fight with Economic Abuse and Sabotage, Dz.U. No. 38,
item 350.

3¢ Proliferation of false information which can cause significant damage to the interests of the Polish State or
significantly lower the position of its supreme bodies.

37 A. Zaéminski, Przestepstwa polityczne w orzecznictwie Komisji Specjalnej do Walki z Naduzyciami i Szkod-
nictwem Gospodarczym 1950-1954, Pamie¢ i Sprawiedliwos¢ 1(2008), 335, 341.

3% P Fiedorczyk, n. 31 supra, 325.

% J. Bednarzak, Rewizje nadzwyczajne Prokuratora generalnego PRL [in:] Prokuratura PRL w latach 1950-1960,
Warszawa, 1960, 175 — quoted after P. Fiedorczyk, n. 31 supra, 330.

40 1-2 OSNKW 1995, item 2.
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which is permissible because it will be applied only for the benefit of the ‘accused’.
This analogy is also indispensable, because it is impossible to tolerate a situation
in which there would be no procedural possibilities of repealing or modifying
a legally binding judgment of the Special Commission, which drastically violated
the rights of a groundlessly ‘punished’ person. If the law creates such possibilities
in relation to legally binding judgments of sovereign courts, issued — after all — in
the conditions of respect for the right of the accused to defence, they must be all
the more so provided and observed in relation to very similar repressive judgments
issued by a non-judicial body adjudicating in the absence of the of basic procedural
guarantees of the repressed persons. The same arguments apply to the possibility of
appealing, by means of an extraordinary cassation, the legally binding judgments
ending proceedings before the Special Commission. Hence, in subsequent com-
mentaries to the Code of Criminal Procedure of 6 June 19974 the possibility of
an extraordinary cassation appeal against judgments of the Special Commission
was confirmed®. This is further confirmed by T. Grzegorczyk in the first thesis
of his commentary on Article 521 of the Code of Criminal Procedure®, though
P. Fiedorczyk quotes the same author putting forward an opposite thesis*.

Special courts were also established. The task of the special criminal courts was
to judge fascist-Nazi criminals guilty of homicide and atrocities affecting civilians
and prisoners of war as well as traitors to the Polish Nation*’. In 1946, these courts
were abolished and their competences were taken over by general courts.

The second special court was the Supreme National Tribunal** competent
to judge people responsible for the nazification of state life and Poland’s defeat in
September 1939% as well as war criminals*. In 1946-1948, 46 Nazi criminals were
judged in massive court trials (20 of them were sentenced to capital punishment)*.

The so-called secret sections were established in general courts. In 1950-1954,
they operated in the Ministry of Justice as well as in the Court of Appeal and
Voivodeship Court in Warsaw and also in the Supreme Court. Though the sections
formally operated within the general court system, they were in fact separated and
worked undercover.

4 Consolidated text: Dz.U. 2018, item 1914.

4 J. Grajewski, S. Steinborn, Komentarz aktualizowany do art. 521 Kodeksu postgpowania karnego [in:]
L. Paprzycki, J. Grajewski, S, Steinborn (eds.), Komentarz aktualizowany do Art. 425-673 ustawy z dnia
6 czerwca 1997 Kodeks postgpowania karnego (Dz.U. 97.89.555), Lex/el. 2015.

+ T. Grzegorczyk, Kodeks postgpowania karnego. Komentarz, Krakow, 2003.

4 T. Grzegorczyk, Kodeks postgpowania karnego. Komentarz, Krakow, 1998 — quoted after P Fiedorczyk,
n. 31 supra, 330.

* Decree of PKWN (Polish Committee of National Liberation) of 12 September 1944, Dz.U. No. 4, item 21.
There were six of them operating throughout the country. A special criminal court was composed of
a professional judge and two lay judges. The judgments could not be appealed against. The participation
of a defence lawyer was obligatory.

46 Established with the Decree of the Council of Ministers of 22 January 1946, Dz.U. No. 5, item 45.

47 By virtue of the Decree of the Council of Ministers of 22 January 1946 on responsibility for the September
defeat and nazification of state life, Dz.U. No. 5, item 46.

4 The establishment of the Supreme National Tribunal was linked to Poland’s accession to the London Agre-
ement of 8 August 1945 and the adoption of the Moscow Declaration of 1 November 1943 in accordance
with which war criminals had to be handed over to the victim states and judged by the courts of those states.
The Supreme National Tribunal adjudicated as a panel of three professional judges and four lay judges, its
judgments being final. The participation of a defence attorney was obligatory.

+ After 1948 the Supreme National Tribunal ceased to work though it was not formally abolished. More on
the subject in A. Litynski, n. 8 supra, 169-170.
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The proposal to arrange for a special procedure of examining criminal cases
of great importance for the interests of the state and the Polish United Workers’
Party was put forward by the Ministry of Public Security (‘MPS’). The ministry
claimed that this concerned mainly cases falling under the Decree of 22 January
1946 on responsibility for the September defeat and nazification of state life°.
The establishment of the secret section was approved by Henryk Swiatkowski
(Minister of Justice), Wactaw Barcikowski (First President of the Supreme Court),
and Henryk Ciesluk (Vice-Minister of Justice)®!. The cases were examined by fully
trusted judges (Polish United Workers’ Party members), while public defenders
were appointed from a special list. The trials were held in absolute secrecy, mostly
in the Mokotéw prison®?. In 1952, the trials were moved to a small room in the
court building where the only ‘public’ were the investigation officers of the MPS
in charge of a given case.

During the over four years of the activity of the secret section, it examined 506
cases against 626 people. The Supreme Court examined appeals in 370 cases. 585
people were convicted. The court of first instance imposed capital punishment in
34 cases, in 14 cases the sentences were upheld, nine persons were executed®. In
addition, 20 people died in prison, while dozens of others died soon after release™.
The latter was beyond any doubt closely linked to the unauthorized and inadmis-
sible methods applied during the investigations.

Application of sophisticated and perverse torture was everyday practice in
the proceedings conducted by security or Military Intelligence officers. The scale
of the phenomenon was confirmed by testimonies of the repressed people and
even by testimonies given by the persecutors themselves both in their own trials
or rehabilitation trials as well as during the work of the commissions established
to examine violations of the rule of law in criminal proceedings.

The problem of the interrogations conducted with the use of unauthorized
and inadmissible methods returned in debates held by different groups of people.
Already in 1945, it was discussed during a meeting of presidents and heads of
military courts in the Supreme Military Court or during the plenary sessions of the
Central Committee of the Polish United Workers’ Party. Yet, it had no consequences
in practice. The prosecutor did not respond to complaints about the use of torture
made by the accused, even if they were eyewitnesses of the beating. Similarly, the
court did not give much attention to the accused’s complaints about the use of
torture, treating them as devious and groundless. It was anyway ‘safer’ for the
adjudicating courts, because they avoided the danger of initiation of potential
explanatory proceedings®.

The violations of law in criminal proceedings was not limited to merely extorting
testimonies out of the accused or witnesses in cases in which accusations concerned

30 The proposal was put forward by Gen. Roman Romkowski, Vice-Minister of Public Security, who referred
to the top party leadership in the years 1949-1956, that is, Bolestaw Bierut, Jakub Berman, and Hilary
Minc. I quote it after A. Lityfiski, n. 8 supra, 174-175.

31 J. Kubiak, Sekcja tajna, Prawo i Zycie 28(1991).

2 That is why the accused called that court the ‘crapper court’.

33 Among them were August Emil Fieldorf, Bronistaw Chajecki, Bolestaw Kontrym, Zbigniew Ejme,
Julian Czerwiakowski. .

3 J. Kubiak, Sekcja tajna, Prawo i Zycie 31(1991).

3 J. Borowiec, n. 26 supra, 204-206.
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the actually committed crimes. Evidence was repeatedly falsified and accusations
happened to be made of crimes not committed. In situations of this kind it was
necessary to extort admission of guilt and orchestrate evidence.

Il. REHABILITATION MEASURES IN MID-1950S

The unauthorized and inadmissible methods applied by officers of investigation
bodies came to be revealed by Jozef Swiatto, deputy director of Department X of
the MPS, who himself had made considerable use of these practices, in the Radio
Free Europe broadcasts towards the end of September 1954. In response, the
Central Committee of the Polish United Workers’ Party set up two commissions:
for matters of rehabilitated persons and for examining methods of work applied
in security bodies (which be discussed further in section III).

In response to a motion of the Commission for matters of rehabilitated persons,
on 10 March 1955 the Political Office of the party adopted the rules of treatment
of persons released from prison and rehabilitated at that time. They related mainly
to financial or welfare questions, e.g. granting a one-off allowance or compensa-
tion, or even a disability pension; the possibility of medical treatment; payment
of an equivalent for losses resulting from liquidation of a flat, etc.’® However, the
most important measures were those intended to alleviate the sentence or even
to fully rehabilitate the person.

In the second half of 1954, examination begun of cases of the so-called ‘con-
spiracy in the army’. In March 19535, the first conclusions from the examinations
were ready. On 3 November 1955, a special commission of the Political Office
of the Polish United Workers’ Party was set up to examine rehabilitation appeals
submitted by the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office and the Prosecutor Gene-
ral’s Office. On 19 April 1956, the commission presented the results of their work
to the Political Office. Once the Political Office accepted the rules of work of the
commission which had looked into the results of the examination of cases of the
so-called ‘conspiracy in the army’, the commission ordered the Supreme Military
Prosecutor’s Office to resume and subsequently discontinue the proceedings due
to absence of evidence of guilt in the majority of the cases®”.

As a result of the rehabilitation trials (concerning not only cases of the so-called
‘conspiracy in the army’) a few hundred convicts were rehabilitated by the autumn
of 1957. Also, measures taken in the procedure of court supervision led to sentences
being reduced. Yet the largest number of people benefited from the Amnesty Act of
27 April 1956, as approximately 5,000 to 6,000 political prisoners were released
on its basis®’. However, that was not equivalent to full rehabilitation of the persons
the proceedings against whom were discontinued by virtue of the amnesty.

Let us have a closer look at the effects of the examination of cases of the so-called
‘conspiracy in the army’ conducted by officers of the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s

36 J. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 143-144.

57 ]. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 144-145.

3 Dz.U. No. 11, item 57.

3 M. Turlejska, Te pokolenia..., 60 and 108.
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Office®®. The main case was the ‘case of the central group of the conspiracy’, also
called as the ‘trial of generals’ as the defendants in the trial were generals Stanistaw
Tatar, Stefan Mossor, Jerzy Kirchmayer, and Franciszek Herman; colonels Marcin
Jurecki, Marian Utnik, and Stanistaw Nowicki and also major Wtadystaw Roman
and commander second lieutenant Szczepan Wacek.

The first arrests took place back in 1949 and after a brutal investigation all
the accused, with the exception of Gen. Stefan Mossor, admitted their guilt. The
public trial was to perform a propaganda task and show that the party and the
communist authorities in Poland vanquished the ‘diversion-espionage centres of
the enemy which worked for Anglo-American imperialists’.

Invitations to attend the trial before the Supreme Military Court®! held in the
rooms of the Ministry of Justice were extended to the radio, national and inter-
national press as well as the Polish Newsreel. The officers accused in the ‘trial of
generals’, as the only ones who had a trial among all cases involving participa-
tion in the ‘conspiracy in the army’, could have defence attorneys. Only one of
these attorneys was given access to the court files, yet without the right to take
notes.

MPS representatives were present close to the trial room and exerted all sorts
of pressure on the contents and course of the hearing. No witnesses were called
by the defence and the prosecutor called in 18 witnesses, all of whom had been
subjected to brutal investigations. Part of them had already been convicted to death,
while the remaining ones were waiting for their own trials in which some of them
were also subsequently sentenced to death®?.

The sentence was pronounced on 13 August 1951. Generals S. Tatar, ]. Kirch-
mayer, S. Mossor, and F. Herman were given life sentences®, M. Utnik, S. Nowicki
and M. Jurecki were sentenced to 15 years’ imprisonment, W. Roman to 12 years’
imprisonment, while Sz. Wacek received a 10-year sentence. In addition, all of
them received an additional punishment in the form of loss of civil and public
rights for a period of 5 years.

Towards the end of 1952, generals S. Mossor and F. Herman were again sub-
jected to a brutal investigation aimed at extorting from them testimonies incrimi-
nating Marshal Michat Rola-Zymierski and Gen. Wactaw Komar. Gen. F. Herman
did not survive the investigation and died of heart attack in a cell of the detention
ward of the Main Board of the Polish Army Intelligence Service®*.

As a result of the examination of the ‘trial of generals’, on 24 April 1956, the
Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office motioned that the proceedings be resumed.
On the same day, the Supreme Military Court accepted the motion, repealed the
sentence and sent the case back to the prosecutor’s office with a request that the
investigation be completed.

%0 Lt. Col. Franciszek Mateja, Capt. Edward Wiacek, Capt. Andrzej Kaszycki and Capt. Zbigniew Domino
— quoted after J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 142.

¢! The adjudicating bench was presided over by Lt. Col. Roman Walag from the District Military Court in
Biatystok. With him sat Lt. Col. Roman Bojko and Mjr Teofil Karczmarz.

62 J. Poksifski, n. 23 supra, 128-129.

¢ Article 86(1) and (2) of the Criminal Code of the Polish Army, which provided grounds for the conviction
and punishment, did not provide for a life imprisonment.

64 J. Poksiniski, n. 23 supra, 142.
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The Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office, also on the same day, discontinued
the proceedings due to absence of evidence of guilt. On 26 January 1990, that deci-
sion was changed as it was assumed that the grounds for the discontinuation of the
case was the ascertainment that Gen. S. Tatar, Col. M. Utnik and Col. S. Nowicki
did not commit the acts they were accused of®.

What was also examined were the so-called ‘sliver trials’. Investigations in these
cases were conducted by boards of the Polish Army Intelligence Service, mainly
by the Main Board of the Polish Army Intelligence Service, which supervised the
conduct of investigations and made all the major decisions. According to the script
prepared by the Military Intelligence Service, 86 officers — alleged members of
a conspiracy organization working for western powers — were accused.

In 53 trials conducted behind closed doors, before the Supreme Military Court,
the District Military Court and the Regional Military Court in Warsaw, as well as
the Navy Military Court in Gdynia, 40 death penalties were adjudicated (20 carried
out), 8 persons were sentenced for life, while 37 received long prison sentences
(ranging from 8 to 15 years) on the basis of fabricated evidence and extorted
testimonies. Two officers died in prison while serving their sentences, many suf-
fered irretrievable health impairments as a result of the brutal investigations and
inhuman prison conditions®.

The examination of the ‘sliver trials’ led to the submission by the Supreme
Military Prosecutor’s Office of motions for the resumption of proceedings, over-
ruling of sentences by the Supreme Military Court, and remand of cases in order
for investigation to be completed, finally ended with discontinuation of proceedings
due to absence of evidence of guilt.

The defendants in the case of the so-called new management of the military con-
spiracy were colonels Franciszek Skibifiski, Stefan Biernacki and Adam Jaworski as
well as majors Apoloniusz Zawilski and Kornel Dobrowolski. The Supreme Military
Court judgment of 28 April 1952 sentenced all of them to capital punishment. The
sentence was upheld on 20 May 1952 by the Assembly of Judges of the Supreme
Military Court. President Bolestaw Bierut did not exercise his right of pardon, but
execution of the sentences was suspended at the request of the head of the Main
Board of the Polish Army Intelligence Service, who wanted to use the convicts as
witnesses in other cases related to the ‘conspiracy in the army’.

On 21 January 1954, less than two years from the adjudication of the capital
punishment, Col. Antoni Skulbaszewski concluded that it was no longer necessary
to suspend the execution of the sentences. Prosecutor Gen. Stanistaw Zarakowski
then lodged with the Council of Ministers a motion for granting pardon to all the
above-mentioned persons and on 25 January 1954 the Council of Ministers accepted
the motion replacing the capital punishment with life sentences. After the resump-
tion, on 4 April 1956, of proceedings in the cases of those convicted, the proceedings
were discontinued on 6 April 1956 because of absence of evidence of guilt®’.

A similar case of execution of capital punishments being suspended also took place
in the trial of officers of the General Staff of the Polish Army. Defendants in the case

65 S. Przyjemski, Ja po 39 latach, Prawo i Zycie 19(1990).
% J. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 149.
o7 J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 149-153.
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were lieutenant colonels Marian Orlik, Aleksander Kita and Ludwik Glowacki as
well as major Wiadystaw Skoczen. In the judgment of 8 August 1952, the Supreme
Military Court sentenced all of them to capital punishment. The sentence was upheld
by the Assembly of Judges of the Supreme Military Court on 23 August 1952 with
respect to M. Orlik, A. Kita and W. Skoczeni, and on 28 August 1952 with respect
to L. Glowacki. President B. Bierut did not exercise his right of pardon in any of the
cases. The M. Orlik and A. Kita were executed, but in the case of L. Glowacki and
W. Skoczen, the execution was suspended so that they could be used as witnesses
in other ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases. Here again, on 21 January 1954, A. Skul-
baszewski decided that the sentences could be carried out. Then Gen. S. Zarakowski
motioned that L. Glowacki and W. Skoczen be granted pardon and the Council of
Ministers accepted the motion on 25 January 1954, changing the death penalty to life
imprisonment. Once the proceedings were resumed on 9 April 1956, the Supreme
Military Court discontinued the proceedings due to absence of evidence of guilt®.

The execution of sentences of capital punishment was also suspended in the
case of the second group of aviation officers, in which Lt. Col. Roman Rypson,
Lt. Col. Zygmunt Sokotowski, Mjr. Konstanty Sabitto, and Mjr. Roman Kurkie-
wicz were the defendants. With the judgment of 18 October 1952, the Supreme
Military Court sentenced all of them to capital punishment. The sentence was
upheld by the Assembly of Judges of the Supreme Military Court on 19 December
1952. On 15 April 1953, the Council of Ministers applied the right of pardon
to K. Sabilto, changing the capital punishment to 15 years’ imprisonment, but did
not exercise the right of pardon with respect to the others.

The sentence was carried out with respect to R. Rypson, while suspended
with respect to Z. Sokotowski and R. Kurkiewicz, so that they could be used as
witnesses in other ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases. However, already in August
1953, it was concluded that Z. Sokolowski would not say anything more and his
sentence was carried out. R. Kurkiewicz had more luck as in response to a motion
of the supreme military prosecutor the Council of Ministers granted him pardon,
replacing the capital punishment with a life sentence. Once the proceedings were
resumed on 24 April 1956, the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office discontinued
the proceedings for absence of evidence of guilt on 27 April 1956%.

On 26 April 1956, proceedings were resumed only to be discontinued on the
following day for absence of evidence of guilt in the cases of the colonels Bernard
Adamecki, August Menczak, Jozef Jungraw, lieutenants Wtadystaw Minakowski,
Szczepan Scibior and Stanistaw Michatowski (all of whom were sentenced to death
and sentences carried out) and colonels: Stanistaw Ziach and Aleksander Majewski,
who were sentenced to life imprisonment”®. On 21 January 1993, that decision
was modified on the assumption that the proceedings were discontinued on the
basis of the conclusion that colonels B. Adamecki, A. Menczak, J. Jungraw and
lieutenants W, Minakowski, S. Scibior, S. Michatowski, S. Ziach and A. Majewski
had not committed the acts they had been accused of”'.

o8 J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 164-165.

%9 J. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 168-169.

70 J. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 156-157. They were referred to as the conspiracy heading group in the Air Force.
7t Quoted after J. Poksifiski, ‘Pisek w wojsku’. Victis honos, Warszawa, 1994.
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Similarly, on 24 April 1956, proceedings were resumed in the case of the
sentenced-to-death navy captains Zbigniew Przybyszewski, Stanistaw Mieszkowski,
and Jerzy Staniewicz (sentences carried out) and Robert Kasperski and Marian
Wojcieszka (pardoned) as well as navy captains Wactaw Krzywiec and Kazimierz
Kraszewski, who were sentenced to life imprisonment, only to be discontinued for
absence of evidence of guilt on 26 April 195672

On 7 May 1956, proceedings were resumed and discontinued on the same day
for absence of evidence of guilt with respect to colonels Aleksander Rode and Feliks
Michatkowski, who had been sentenced by the Supreme Military Court to capi-
tal punishment on 27 January 1953 (sentences executed)’?. Finally, on 28 April
1956, proceedings were resumed and on 7 May 1956 discontinued for absence
of evidence of guilt with respect to Mjr. Benno Zerbst, sentenced to death (sen-
tence carried out), Lt. Col. Tomasz Kostucha, sentenced to life imprisonment, and
Lt. Col. Leopold Dobrowolski, sentenced to 15 years’ imprisonment’*.

In individual ‘sliver’ trials closely linked to the ‘conspiracy in the army’ case, 43 per-
sons received sentences. In ten cases these were death sentences, of which four were
executed: Col. Mieczystaw Oborski, Lt. Col. Zdzistaw Barbasiewicz, Mjr. Zefiryn Ma-
challa, and Lt. Zdzistaw Ficek. Capital punishment was changed to life imprisonment in
six cases: Gen. Jozef Kuropieska, Col. Maksymilian Chojecki, Lt. Col. J6zef Bochenek,
Mjr. Jerzy Lewandowski, Mjr. Henryk Godlewski, and chief petty officer Mieczystaw
Skibifiski. In all those cases, proceedings were resumed in the first half of 1956 and
finally discontinued by the prosecutor’s office due to absence of evidence of guilt.

Attention should be drawn to the fact that in all those proceedings the case was
returned to the prosecutor’s office which made a decision to resume the investiga-
tion and then discontinue it. What was thus avoided was the public exposure of
the mechanism of orchestrated trials.

It was different in the trial of Kazimierz Moczarski, who insisted on an open
rehabilitation trial. He was found not guilty on 11 December 1956 by the Voivode-
ship Court in Warsaw in the presence of numerous people watching. His defence
attorney, Aniela Steinsbergowa pointed to the fact that nowhere but in Poland was
rehabilitation conducted in open trials which would allow to reveal the hidden
underpinnings of political repressions’.

In the second half of 1956, the Supreme Court overruled legally binding convic-
tions in cases falling under the jurisdiction of general courts and found not guilty the
defendants in over 45 cases, while in over 60 cases, after overruling the convictions,
either remanded the cases to be re-examined or decided that the proceeding be resumed.

In 1954-1956, in cases within the jurisdiction of military courts, the Supreme
Military Court overruled legally binging sentences and discontinued proceedings
with respect to 540 persons’.

The rehabilitation trial of K. Moczarski was quickly followed by a rapid growth
in the number of rehabilitation petitions (by the end of December 1956, the

72 J. Poksinski, n. 23 supra, 160-163. They were referred to as the heading the conspiracy in the Navy.

73 J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 170.

74 J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 171-173.

7S A. Steinsbergowa, Widziane z lawy obroriczej, Warszawa, 2016, 177-178.

76 D. Maksymiuk, Problem rehabilitacji w latach 1956-1957, Miscellanea Historico-luridica, 8(2009), 227-229.
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Ministry of Justice received almost 1,300 applications). The Rehabilitation Com-
mission, which was established to examine the cases in June 1956, informed that
by the end of May 1957 the Ministry received 1,717 rehabilitation requests. 557
of them were rejected (due to total groundlessness of the requests or purpose-
lessness of seeking a judicial revision) and in 161 cases the minister instituted an
extraordinary revision.

In 124 revisions, judgments of former district military courts and the Supreme
Military Court were appealed against, while in 37 revisions — judgments of the
general courts (including 14 revisions of judgments of the Voivodeship Court in
Warsaw passed in its secret section).

What was requested in the first place was acquittal (63 cases), discontinuation
of proceedings (52 cases), overruling of sentences and re-examination of cases
(18 cases), and reduction of punishments (25 cases).

The information presented at the session of the Parliamentary Justice Com-
mission on 9 July 1957 indicated that out of the total number of 4,400 applica-
tions for rehabilitation 2,500 were rejected (because the sentences were correct).
In 900 cases, the persons were rehabilitated, while 1,000 judgments were revised
as regards punishment.

In addition, within the framework of activities aimed at repairing the damage
to the innocently convicted persons or persons who were given too severe penal-
ties, an inter-ministerial commission assisting the rehabilitated persons was set up
by the Council of Ministers Office. The Commission extended assistance of various
kinds: financial allowances (to over 600 persons), apartments (over 200 persons),
provision of healthcare or stay in convalescent homes (over 350 persons), disability
pensions granted to people groundlessly convicted or their family (150 persons),
help in finding a job (130 persons)”’.

Nevertheless, there is no doubt that the authorities wanted to deal with the rehabili-
tation campaign quickly and preferred to keep the trials secret. Ironically, rehabilitation
sentences were often passed by judges who had earlier passed sentences groundlessly
convicting people even to capital punishment. It was also then when at a meeting of
a Ministry of Justice college the following words signaling the inevitable end of the
‘thaw’ period were heard: ‘Instead of limiting themselves to the rehabilitation of spe-
cific people from groundless accusations courts attempted to perform socio-political
rehabilitation of entire circles hostile to us’®. Thus, given that the rehabilitation
measures of those days were only half-hearted, it is unsurprising that rehabilitation
trials concerning cases from the Stalinist period had to be conducted after 1989.

III. DETERMINATION OF THOSE GUILTY OF VIOLATING THE RULE
OF LAW IN COURTS, PROSECUTOR'’S OFFICE, THE MILITARY
INTELLIGENCE SERVICE AND SECURITY OFFICES

In October 1954, the Political Office of the Polish United Workers’ Party esta-
blished a Commission for examining the methods of work in security bodies

77 Quoted after D. Maksymiuk, n. 76 supra, 230-231.
78 These were the words of the then minister Marian Rybicki — quoted after D. Maksimiuk, n. 76 supra, 232.
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(the Commission was composed of Franciszek J6zwiak, Franciszek Mazur, and
Adam Dolifiski)””. The Commission accused, among others, Roman Romkow-
ski, Vice-Minister of Public Security, Anatol Fejgin, Director of Department
X of the Ministry of Public Security (previously deputy head of the Main Bo-
ard of the Intelligence Service), and Jézef Rézanski, Director of the Investi-
gation Department of the Ministry of Public Security of violating the rule
of law.

That resulted in an investigation instituted against J. R6zanski and his detention
on 8 November 1954, In its judgment of 23 December 1955, the Voivodeship
Court in Warsaw sentenced J. Rozanski to 5 years’ imprisonment (reduced on the
basis of the Amnesty Act of 22 November 19528 to 3 years and 4 months).

After the extraordinary revision of the Prosecutor General to the disadvantage
of the defendant had been granted, the Supreme Court overruled the judgment of
the Voivodeship Court, remanding the case to this court for re-examination. The
court in turn returned the case to the Prosecutor General’s Office for the investiga-
tion to be complemented. The investigation against J. R6zafiski was consequently
resumed on 31 December 1956 and combined with the investigation instituted in
April 1956 against A. Fejgin and R. Romkowski®2.

On 11 November 1957, the Voivodeship Court in Warsaw passed a judgment
sentencing R. Romkowski and J. Rézanski to 15 years’ imprisonment. A. Fejgin was
sentenced to 12 years in prison®3. On 2 October 1958, the Supreme Court reduced
Roézaniski’s sentence to 14 years®. Prosecutors K. Kukawka and Antoni Ferenc,
who presented the case in the trial, sent to the Prosecutor General, already on
22 November 1957, a letter requesting that Jakub Berman and Stanistaw Radkie-
wicz, members of the Commission of the Political Office of the Central Committee

7 The establishment of the Commission was preceded by Romkowski’s dismissal from the position of the
Vice-Minister of Public Security — quoted after Cz. Koztowski, Namiestnik Stalina, Warszawa, 1993, 153.

8 The investigation concerning the abuse of power was conducted by prosecutor Kazimierz Kukawka. It was
initiated on the basis of the decision made by General Prosecutor Stefan Kalinowski — quoted after S. Marat,
J. Snopkiewicz, Ludzie bezpicki. Dokumentacja czasu bezprawia, Warszawa, 1990, 31-32. In order to avoid
misunderstandings, an explanation needs to be added that the same first name and surname were borne
by a specialist in criminal law prof. dr hab. S. Kalinowski (1913-1996), graduate of the University of Warsaw.
Prof. S. Kalinowski was vice-dean of the Faculty of Law and Administration of the University of Warsaw in
1956-1957 and 1965-1968. He was also, among others, the author of monograph: Rewizja nadzwyczajna
w polskim procesie karnym, Warszawa, 1954; Opinia bieglego w postepowaniu karnym, Warszawa, 1972;
Rozprawa gldwna w polskim procesie karnym, Warszawa, 1975, as well as a textbook for students: Polski
proces karny w zarysie, Warszawa, 1979. See A. Murzynkowski, Stefan Kalinowski (1913-1996), Studia
Turidica 1997, Vol. XXXIV, 223-225.

81 Dz.U. No. 46, item 309.

82 The substance of the Military Court’s judgment and the result of the extraordinary revision are quoted
after S. Marat, ]. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 67-69. The investigation against R. Romkowski and A. Fejgin
was instituted by decision of Prosecutor General Marian Rybicki. It was also conducted by prosecutor
K. Kukawka — See S. Marat, J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 138, 179.

83 Conducted against A. Fejgin was also a proceeding concerning his activity in the Main Board of the Intel-
ligence Service in the so called ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases, which ended with a decision of the Supreme
Military Court issued in October 1958 whereby the proceedings were discontinued by virtue of the amne-
sty of 1956, because the punishments would not exceed 5 years’ imprisonment — quoted after S. Marat,
J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 182-185. It should be added that R. Romkowski was degraded to the rank of
a private on the basis of resolution of the Council of Ministers of 23 March 1960 — R. Kurek, Kaci bezpieki
na tle marca 1968: Roman Romkowski, Anatol Fejgin i Jozef Rozariski w oczach SB, (1964-1968), 1(10)
Aparat Represji w Polsce Ludowej 1944-1989, 241(2012).

84 All of them were released from prison in October 1964 benefiting from the pardon granted by the Council
of the State — quoted after S. Marat, J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 374-375. See also R. Kurek, n. 83 supra,
237-256.
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of the Polish United Workers’ Party (the latter was at the same time the Minister
of Public Security) be held criminally liable®.

Investigations were also conducted with respect to investigation officers of security
bodies. Following a trial which lasted several years, from 13 July 19535, the Voivodeship
Court in Warsaw, passed on 23 February 1959, a legally binding judgment sentencing
J6zef Dusza (head of the Investigation Department of the Ministry of Public Security)
to 7 years 6 months of imprisonment, Jerzy Kaskiewicz to 6 years 6 months of imprison-
ment, while Jan Kieres to 3 years of imprisonment. The proceedings against Jan Misiur-
ski and Jerzy Kedziora were finally discontinued by virtue of the amnesty of 1956%.

In the investigation conducted against J. Dusza and others, evidence was col-
lected against other investigation officers and prison guards which confirmed that
they had applied unauthorized and inadmissible methods of investigation. In spite
of those findings, as soon as on 24 September 1955, a decision was made ‘not
to institute criminal proceedings’ in relation to the people concerned, the alleged
(though not true) reason being the lapse of five years since their last use of extortion.

The decision was even more surprising considering that prosecutor K. Kukawka
declared, in a note made on 7 July 1956, that there were full grounds for holding
criminally liable Adam Humer, Deputy Director of the Investigation Department
of the Ministry of Public Security, and Ludwik Serkowski, head of division in that
Department, and around ten others*”. Those were the first signs of the authorities
being reluctant to identify the actual perpetrators of violations of the rule of law and
hold them criminally liable.

Concurrent with the investigations was the activity of the Commission headed
by Roman Nowak (Chairman of the Central Revision Commission of the Polish
United Workers’ Party), established in October 1956 to examine the activities of the
Commission of the Political Office of the Polish United Workers’ Party for Public
Security. The Commission (composed of: Ostap Dtuski, Zenon Kliszko, Marian Ry-
bicki, and Edmund Pszczétkowski) confirmed that the application by public security
officers and Military Intelligence Service officers of unauthorized and inadmissible,
almost criminal, methods of investigation had been widespread. The Roman Nowak
Commission submitted motions for exclusion from the party of J. Berman, S. Rad-
kiewicz and Vice-Minister of Public Security Mieczystaw Mietkowski, as well as for
dismissal from the Central Committee of the party of H. Minc®®. B. Bierut, Chairman
of the Commission of the Political Office for Public Security, was then no longer alive.

Apart from the accounts of J. Swiatto, publicizing the methods of work of the Public
Security Office in Radio Free Europe, the supreme state and party authorities received

85 Not only were such proceedings not instituted, but in December 1983 Berman was honoured with the medal
of the Polish National Council, while S. Radkiewicz, in his obituary of December 1987, was described as
‘patriotic and greatly devoted in his service to Homeland’ — quoted after S. Marat, J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80
supra, 340, 358-359.

8¢ I refer the reader to my own study in which I present the course of the trials — M. Stanowska, Préby rozli-
czenia z przeszloscig w wymiarze sprawiedliwos¢ [in:] lus et lex. Ksigga jubileuszowa ku czci profesora Adama
Strzembosza, A. Debinski, A. Grzeskowiak, K. Wiak (eds.), Lublin, 2002, 306-307.

87 In the study already referred to above, I present a list of some 20 investigation officers of security authorities
and prison guards guilty of use of inadmissible methods towards the repressed in 1944-1956, in relation
to whom the execution of criminal liability was abandoned. Compare: L.M. Stanowska, n. 86 supra, and
S. Marat, J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 253-257.

88 Cz. Koztowski, n. 79 supra, 192-198, 202.
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other information about the violations of law in the criminal proceedings. The infor-
mation came from the repressed persons and their families. The latter appealed for the
examination of cases in which serious infringements of law had taken place. Rehabilita-
tion requests were yet another source of information about violations of the rule of law.

On 10 December, following an agreement between the Minister of Justice,
the Minister of National Defence, and the Prosecutor General, a commission was
established to examine violations of the rule of law by former employees of the
Main Board of the Intelligence Service, Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office and
the Supreme Military Court. The Commission had at their disposal ample material
from the analysis of the ‘conspiracy in the army’ case, which resulted in resump-
tion of proceedings, overruling of judgments passed in trials conducted in glaring
contravention of the law and ended with discontinuation of the proceedings due
to absence of evidence of guilt. The Commission was headed by Marian Mazur,
Deputy Prosecutor General. On 18 March 1957, Mazur was replaced by Jan
Wasilewski (Deputy Prosecutor General) as he himself became the Prosecutor
General. Hence the name — the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.

Members of the Commission included two representatives of the Ministry of
National Defence: Col. Mieczystaw Majewski and Col. Adam Uziemblo, as well
as President of the Voivodeship Court for the Warsaw Voivodeship, Stanistaw
Kotowski, and Supreme Court judge Mieczystaw Szerer, who had been a judge in
the secret section of the Supreme Court®.

Judge M. Szerer stopped taking part in the works of the Commission on
13 May 1957. The official reason was excessive professional workload, but he
filed in a report which constitutes a sort of dissenting opinion vis-a-vis the official
report of the Commission, which was delivered on 29 June 1957°°.

Attention should be drawn to the fact that two members of the Commission were
groundlessly accused. J. Wasilewski was temporarily detained for two years under
a false accusation of cooperation with the German occupants®. A. Uziembto was
accused under the ‘conspiracy in the army’ case and temporarily detained for 4 years
and 8 months (from 1 November 1949 to 2 July 1954 he was held in the basement
of the Main Board of the Polish Army Intelligence Service), but finally acquitted®?.

The report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission was eventually delivered
on 29 June 1957, with the four-strong Commission (J. Wasilewski, S. Kotowski,
M. Majewski, and A. Uziembto) fully unanimous.

The Commission worked on the basis on materials and documents made avail-
able to them by the former bodies of the Intelligence Service, Supreme Military

8 J. Kubiak, Sekcja tajna, 30 Prawo i Zycie (1991).

%" Quoted after J. Poksinski, ‘My, sedziowie, nie od Boga...". Z dziejow sgdownictwa wojskowego PRL 1944
—-1956. Materiaty i dokumenty, Warszawa, 1996, 239-243.

1 From 29 November 1952 to 2 November 1954, i.e. until the investigation was discontinued — quoted after
J. Poksinski, n. 90 supra, 240.

2 A positive role was played by Capt. E. Wiacek, who performed prosecutor’s supervision in the case of
A. Uziemblo from the beginning of 1954. He accepted from him the withdrawal of self-incriminatory te-
stimony given as a result of the use of unauthorized and inadmissible investigation methods and filed with
the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office a petition for his acquittal. In spite of protests on the part of the
Intelligence Service, the petition received political acceptance from the Secretary of Central Committee of
the Polish United Workers’ Party and the Supreme Military Court passed an acquittal judgment, the only
one in the ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases — J. Poksifiski, n. 23 supra, 184-185.



First Attempts at Undoing the Consequences of Violating the Rule of Law in 1944-1956 23

Prosecutor’s Office and Supreme Military Court, as well as on court, investigation,
control and operational files of specific cases. The Commission also held numerous
talks with former and present employees of the law enforcement bodies and the
administration of justice, as well as the former detainees and convicts.

The Commission focused on the ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases. The exami-
nations did not cover cases from the first years of the communist regime, when
fundamental criminal law provisions were commonly violated and death penalties
frequently executed. The activity of regional, district or garrison military courts
or military prosecutor’s offices was not analysed. This led the Commission to the
erroneous conclusion that the violations of the rule of law reached their peak
in 1948-1954.

The Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission for the examination of the activity of
military investigation and court bodies was in a relatively comfortable situation
as they began their work after all the convicted in the so-called ‘conspiracy in the
army’ cases had been rehabilitated and the rehabilitation processes declared the
conspiracy accusations to have been orchestrated, the judgments having been based
on doubtful evidence, on testimonies extorted with unspeakable torture. This made
it easier for the Commission to formulate accusations in relation to military inves-
tigation bodies and courts. The majority of those charges applied also to criminal
proceedings left outside the scope of the Commission’s work.

The Commission grouped the charges in three chapters: I — against the bodies
of the former Polish Army Intelligence Service, II — against the Supreme Military
Prosecutor’s Office, Il — against the Supreme Military Court. Simultaneously,
they indicated those guilty of violating the rule of law in these bodies. They also
presented conclusions with proposals of various consequences for those responsible
for the use of repression within criminal proceedings.

There was no doubt that the management of the Intelligence Service were
responsible not only for fabricating individual accusations, but even whole cases.
The ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases are a perfect illustrations of the thesis. The
fabrication involved extortion of false self-accusations and accusations of other
people according to scripts prepared well in advance through the application of
criminal methods of investigation. The co-defendants were artificially divided into
groups in spite of having been accused of the same offence committed at the same
time, of participation in the same organization and allegedly in mutual agreement,
which served to turn co-defendants into ‘witnesses’. In absolute absence of any
substantive evidence, false evidence was thus obtained of uncommitted crimes. The
report described a variety of sophisticated and perverse tortures causing serious
bodily injuries, health impairment, permanent mental disease, suicidal attempts
(successful or not), mentioning even cases of deaths caused by the investigating
officers (e.g. Lt. Col. Lucjan Zateski®’, Corp. Witczak®).

% This death occurred on 22 July 1948. The forensic medicine doctor was forced to hide the actual cause of
death. Only a commission of specialists from the Institute of Forensic Medicine of the Medical Academy
in Warsaw issued on 6 December 1957 an opinion on the causes of death on the basis of investigation files
and stated that death resulted from the methods applied towards Zateski and the prison conditions. The
case is described in more detail by J. Poksifski, n. 23 supra, 42-44.

4 More detailed information is lacking.
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Other instances of violations of the rule of law included mass detentions with-
out a prosecutor’s sanction (that is, without the detention having been approved
by a prosecutor); applying for a prosecutor’s sanction without any substantive grounds;
blackmailing the detainees with the application of repressions towards their families;
concluding ‘agreements’ with the detainees to give false testimonies and self-incrimi-
nate in exchange for the promise of lenient sentences or relief in investigations;
extending the investigations for years in spite of it being clear that there was no
evidence of guilt; fabrication of the act of confrontation in such a way as to obtain
signatures under extorted testimonies previously agreed on with enforcement officers;
refusing the detainees the possibility to get acquainted with the collected evidence
or failing to make the investigation files available to the defendants before the final
court hearing; the prosecutor manipulating the defendants during the final hearing
so as to keep the extortion of evidence secret and so as to not allow the defendants
to withdraw the extorted testimonies; frequently hiding from the prosecutor and the
court interrogation records and other evidence in favour of the detainees; manipula-
ting the prosecutor and the court so as to not admit questions inconvenient to those
in charge of the investigation to be asked; presence at secret hearings of investigation
officers from a given case as the ‘audience’ to influence the court, the prosecutor and
the defence attorney, and above all, the defendants and the witnesses.

Any withdrawal of testimonies, either before the prosecutor or at the hearing, led
to the detainee being tortured. The defendants and the witnesses were beaten, even
during the few-hour-long breaks in the hearings where testimonies other than those
recorded in the records containing extorted testimonies were made. What was par-
ticularly drastic was the detention of those sentenced to death for years with the threat
of the execution of the sentence pending so as to extort further false testimonies.
However, once the role of the witness was performed, or the extorted testimonies
withdrawn following the sentence, the postponed death penalties were executed”.

Having presented the accusations against the Intelligence Service bodies, the
Commission named the people guilty of violating the rule of law in those bodies.
The main authors of the so-called ‘conspiracy in the army’ scenario, colonels Dmitry
Voznesenski and Antoni Skulbaszewski escaped any consequences. They were So-
viet officers and the Commission did not put forward any motions in their regard.

The Commission accused a significant group of Military Intelligence Service staff
of applying inadmissible and unauthorized methods of investigation, motioning
that criminal proceedings be instituted against Wiadystaw Kochan, Mieczystaw
Notkowski, and Mateusz Frydman. Simultaneously, the Commission stated that
the Military Prosecutor’s Office had at their disposal indisputable evidence of ho-
micide or grievous bodily harm being committed by several of them in the course
of investigation”. The only persons sentenced by the Supreme Military Court on
28 March 1959 were Wtadystaw Kochan (5 years’ imprisonment) and Mieczystaw

5 What I discussed above were the few cases where, after suspension of the execution of death sentences, the
Council of Ministers responding to the initiative of the Supreme Military Prosecutor granted pardon and
the death penalty was replaced with life imprisonment.

% Jozef Kulak, Jan Jurkiewicz, Mieczystaw Wojda, and Edmund Czekata were charged with homicide, while
Marian Urbaniak with grievous bodily harm. In addition, the Commission formulated a charge of criminal
activity towards Eugeniusz Niedzielin in the case of the executed navy officers — Report of the Mazur
(Wasilewski) Commission.
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Notkowski (3 years’ imprisonment)”’. Proceedings against the others, after they
were proved to have committed the crimes, were discontinued by virtue of Amnesty
Acts of 1952 and 1956. The Supreme Military Court decided to adopt this course
of action assuming that any penalties would not exceed 5 years’ imprisonment®®.

In addition, the Commission indicated two groups of Intelligence Service officers
responsible for the application of inadmissible and unauthorized investigation methods.
With respect to the first group (16 officers) with a higher degree of guilt, the Commis-
sion motioned that they be degraded by two military ranks and with respect to seven
of them the Commission motioned that they be discharged for disciplinary reasons”.
As for the second group with a lower degree of guilt (24 officers), the Commission
motioned that they be degraded by one military rank or that they be discharged from
work due to their uselessness or transferred to other Polish Army bodies!'*.

There are serious doubts whether the recommendations made by the Commis-
sion as regards officers of the Military Intelligence Service were acted upon, the
more so that the leaders of the Polish United Workers’ Party recommended libera-
lization that the severity of the prosecution of security and intelligence officers.
During the National Security Service briefing in December 1957, Jan Wasilewski,
Deputy Prosecutor General and Chairman of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission,
made excuses for conducting proceedings against Security Service officers. Though,
as he explained, over two thousand cases of this kind were lodged, the majority of
them (1,990) were discontinued, most frequently because the limitation periods had
expired. Courts received also petitions for discontinuation on the basis of amnesty
and where the prosecutor was reluctant to treat the officers in an indulgent way,
the Prosecutor General’s Office would take over the proceedings!'®'.

The Commission found numerous abnormalities in the activity of the Supreme
Military Prosecutor’s Office. They established that part of the top officers of the
Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office bore liability, among others, for: mass issuing
of decisions on temporary pre-trial detention (and its extension) without consulting
any materials; frequently issuing those decisions long after the actual detention;
lack of supervision over the investigations conducted by the Intelligence Service
and security bodies as well as uncritical acceptance of the indictments fabricated
by investigation bodies in spite of stark contradictions, absence of material evidence,

97 Both were degraded in 1960 to the rank of a private — quoted after J. Poksinski, n. 90 supra, 54, 70.
%8 This was done in the case of Polish Army Intelligence Service officers taking part in the investigation in
the so called ‘bydgoska’ and ‘zamojsko-lubelska’ cases, including M. Frudman, J. Kulak, J. Jurkiewicz,
and M. Urbaniak as well as in the case of A. Fejgin, W. Kochan, Stefan Kuhl, Mieczystaw Lis, Czestaw
Markiewicz, Zygmunt Lindauer — S. Marat, J. Snopkiewicz, n. 80 supra, 182-185. There is no information
whether similar investigations were conducted with respect to E. Czekata, E. Niedzielin and M. Wojda.
This group included: Lucjan Bajraszewski, Anatol Borel, Stanistaw Dymek, Benedykt Knapiuk, Jerzy
Kornek, S. Kuhl, Mikotaj Kulik, Wtadystaw Kurek, Lucjan Lesniewski, M. Lis, Jan Litwinionek, Kazimierz
Matela, E. Niedzielin, Henryk Olejniczak, Bernard Walczak, and Henryk Zytomierski. Those dismissed
for disciplinary reasons were: S. Dymek, B. Knapiuk, J. Kornel, W. Kurek, K. Matela, H. Olejniczak, and
H. Zytomierski — Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.
Those included: Jozef Bartczak, Bratkowski (no name available), Tadeusz Jurczak, Zbigniew Krauze,
Ignacy Krzemiefi, Leonard Kuzniak, Antoni Latka, Wtadystaw Mirostawski, Franciszek Ostrowski, Marian
Popiolek, Stanistaw Potemski, Stanistaw Patla, Ryszard Rebak, Kazimierz Stabiak, Stefan Staszczuk, Michat
Stern, Jerzy Stepniewski, Jerzy Szerszen, Czestaw Swistek, Antoni Troncik, Wiestaw Trukowski, Kazimierz
Turczynski, and Jerzy Wenelczyk — Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.
101 Wiasilewski’s statement is presented in a more extensive way by H. Dominiczak, Organy bezpieczeristwa
PRL 1944-1990. Rozwdj i dzialalnos¢ w swietle dokumentow MSW, Warszawa, 1997, 122-124.
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and doubtful testimonies given by witnesses; accepting artificial divisions of one case
into several separate cases so as to make the co-defendants witnesses; participation
in orchestrating political trials; limiting the final hearing of the detained by the
prosecutor (solely in the presence of an investigation officer) to asking whether the
detained confirmed the earlier testimonies made before the investigation officer;
approving the indictment without the final hearing by the prosecutor; objecting
to legitimate motions of the defendant and the defence attorneys.

Moreover, the prosecutor’s office failed to inspect prisons and detention wards,
which was tantamount to surrendering the imprisoned persons to the total autho-
rity of investigation bodies. Neither did the prosecutor’s office respond to reports
of lower-rank prosecutors about unauthorized methods applied in the investiga-
tion, nor to complaints about extortion of testimonies, occasionally supported
with visible evidence of beating (with prosecutors sometimes even witnessing the
beating). The prosecutor’s office also failed to respond to defendants’ complaints
about extorted testimonies voiced in court, branding them as defamation of the
investigation bodies. Moreover, the Prosecutor’s Office accepted the fact that
repeated investigations were instituted against people already sentenced in legally
binding way as well as detention of people sentenced to death, often for two years,
in order to use them as witnesses in the ‘conspiracy in the army’ cases.

The Commission named specific people in the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s
Office who were guilty of violating the rule of law: four prosecutors being Soviet
officers and 11 Polish prosecutors'®. The Commission did not make any recommen-
dations as regards the Soviet officers, but lodged motions for criminal proceedings
to be initiated against prosecutors S. Zarakowski and H. Ligi¢za. As for the remai-
ning nine prosecutors, the Commission recommended that their military ranks be
lowered and four of them be additionally forbidden to work in the judiciary!'®.

It is doubtful whether the recommendations of the Commission as regards the
prosecutors were implemented. What is certain is only that even before the Com-
mission’s work was over, the Minister of National Defence expelled H. Ligieza
and S. Zarakowski from the army. H. Ligieza was dishonourably discharged from
the army by the order of the Minister of 29 April 1955, while S. Zarakowski
was transferred to the reserve by the order of 19 April 1956 ‘in connection with
the disclosed abnormalities in the work of the Military Prosecutor’s Office and
unacceptable lack of supervision over the investigative functions of the Military
Intelligence Service bodies’'®. According to J. Poksifiski, the proceedings instituted
against S. Zarakowski were discontinued due to amnesty'%.

102 The Soviet prosecutors were: Antoni Skulbaszewski, Antoni Lachowicz, Jan Amons and Leonard Azar-
kiewicz. The Polish prosecutors were: Stanistaw Zarakowski, Henryk Ligi¢za (or Ligeza), Feliks Aspis
(assessed in the chapter on military justice), Jozef Feldman, Maksymilian Lityfiski, Marian Frenkiel,
Stanistaw Banaszek, Mieczystaw Dytry, Zenon Rychlik, Mieczystaw Mett, and Helena Wolifiska — Report
of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.

103 The ban on work in the judiciary and the lowering of military ranks were to apply to J. Feldman, M. Litynski,
M. Frenkel and S. Banaszek. In addition, the first three of the prosecutors listed were forbidden to leave
the country and to occupy high public positions in the country for five years — Report of the Mazur
(Wasilewski) Commission.

104 K. Szwagrzyk, Zbrodnie w majestacie prawa 19441955, Warszawa, 2000, 115.

105 It should be added that he was degraded to the rank of private by decision of President of the Republic
of Poland, Lech Watesa, of 28 March 1991 - ibid., 186, 193.

106 7. Poksiniski, n. 23 supra, 249-250. The author does not provide more detailed information on the subject.
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In Chapter Three, the Commission discussed the charges against the military
judiciary. In fact, each of the charges made by the Commission disqualifies the
judges responsible for such proceedings.

Pre-trial detention was commonly extended so as to last for years in spite of
absence of any reasons. Hearings were conducted behind closed doors in the buil-
dings of the Intelligence Service and even in prisons. The courts did not attempt
to clarify obvious contradictions, did not demand presentation of substantive
evidence, and not in a single case were the case files sent back for the investiga-
tion to be completed. Special benches were appointed to examine the cases, with
judges submissive to the Supreme Military Court and gladly taking suggestions
from the prosecutor and investigation bodies. The right of defence was entirely
violated, a defence attorney — occasionally admitted — was limited in his/her abi-
lity to contact the defendant, had no freedom in access to case files, nor could he
/she collect notes made from the files in order to prepare an appeal. As a rule, the
motions of the defendant and the defence attorney were rejected. In the course
of the hearing, procedural rules, such as directness, adversarial proceedings, and,
first and foremost, oral character of statements, were violated glaringly. The last
kind of violations manifested itself in the reading of testimonies extorted in the
investigation, frequently being the only evidence.

The judges accepted the way of conducting the hearing and the sentence im-
posed by the investigation bodies. This was helped by the fact that cases were
artificially divided so that the co-defendants could become ‘witnesses’ in the trials
of others, blackmailed with the possibility of the postponed death sentence being
executed or the tortures applied earlier being resumed. Judges did not react to the
withdrawal of testimonies or to complaints about the extorted testimonies, even
though self-incrimination or testimonies of ‘witnesses’ — co-defendants — were
frequently the only piece of evidence. What was particularly deplorable was the
adjudication of death penalties without even the grounds for finding the defendants
guilty because, after all, total rehabilitation followed in all the ‘conspiracy in the
army’ cases. In cases conducted without the participation of defence attorneys
(which was in fact very common), where death and long-term prison sentences
were passed, the court was not interested whether the defendants lodged appeals.
In the course of appeals before the Assembly of Judges of the Supreme Military
Court practically all sentences were upheld, with the complicated cases, in which
death penalty was adjudicated, being often dealt with in less than a quarter of
an hour. The judges adjudicating a death sentence also objected to pardon being
granted and thus agreed to the execution of the sentences. Supreme Military Court
judges received ‘praise’ for passing drastically harsh sentences in contradiction of
the evidence gathered in the case and in spite of the general conditions indicating
obvious fabrication of the case.

Summing up the charges made against the investigation bodies and the judiciary,
the Commission found it their duty to say that the responsibility and liability for
those crimes rested in the first place with the Polish Army Intelligence Service, but
it was the courts that must have seen the violation of law, that must have been
able to predict the possibility of the criminal effect of their actions and accepted
it, therefore the courts bore the greatest responsibility. The Commission came
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to the conclusion that the liability for adjudicating and administering the draconic
penalties in such conditions constituted an offence of excess or abuse of power or
failure to perform the duty (Article 130 of the Criminal Code of the Polish Army),
prosecuted as a criminal case. The case should be investigated since the activity
of some of the judges not only constituted an offence defined in Article 130 of
the Criminal Code of the Polish Army, but also exhibited the features of a judicial
murder. What can seem surprising in the light of these materials is the position of
M. Szerer expressed in his report. In his view, none of the judges were aware of
convicting innocent people and there was no evidence of the judges consciously
violating the rule of law (sic!)!?”. I fully share the position of Prof. A. Kaftal that
given the glaring violations of law and the way the hearings were conducted, the
judges of military courts must have known why they were acting in such a way
and what was expected of them!%,

In the Commission’s opinion, the judges, who by virtue of their position in the
Supreme Military Court not only had access to many cases, but also adjudicated in
many of those cases, were able to get thoroughly and comprehensively acquainted
with the alleged military conspiracy. Hence, in relation to several judges: Feliks
Aspis, Juliusz Krupski, Teofil Karczmarz, and Mieczystaw Widaj, who had heard
many cases, the Commission made a recommendation that an investigation be car-
ried out to determine whether they had committed judicial murder or had been,
in the least, guilty of an abuse of power or failure to perform their duty.

Also the behaviour of Oskar Karliner deserved, in the Commission’s view, a very
negative assessment, but they did not motion for an investigation to be made as the
proceedings were most likely to be discontinued because of the amnesty. Given the
circumstances, the Commission proposed other consequences to be applied — a ban
on work in the judiciary and degradation to a lower military rank!'®.

The negative assessment of the Commission concerned two Soviet officers:
Wilhelm Swiatkowski (President of the Supreme Military Court) and Aleksander
Tomaszewski (Vice-President of the Supreme Military Court), who were sent back
to the Soviet Union. The Commission did not make any motions in their regard.

The Commission also indicated five other judges who should bear the conse-
quences of their participation in violating the rule of law in the judiciary!'°. Three
judges were given the option of transfer to a regional military court, while four
were demoted in military rank'!!.

Unfortunately, there are all signs that the recommendations of the Mazur
(Wasilewski) Commission were not implemented. Valuable information in this
respect is provided by Diana Maksimiuk, who examines archival documents con-
cerning the liability of military judges and prosecutors for violating the rule of law

107

M. Szerer, Procesy przed Najwyzszym Sgdem Wojskowym, Tygodnik Solidarno$¢ 36(1981).
% A. Kaftal, Sedziowie mogli odejs¢, Prawo i Zycie 44(1988).
19 The Commission proposed the application of the same consequences with respect to Leo Hochberg
— Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.
They were: Jozef Warecki, Piotr Parzeniecki, Stefan Michnik, Zygmunt Krasuski, and Kryspin Mioduski
— Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.
Transfer was was suggested with regard to K. Mioduski, Z. Krasuski, and S. Michnik, degradation of military
rank with regard to J. Warecki, P. Parzeniecki, Z. Krasuski, and K. Mioduski, and additional consequence
in the cases of O. Karliner, L. Hochberg, and J. Warecki was a five-year ban on leaving the country or
holding a high public position in the country — Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission.
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before 19562, According to her findings, the implementation of the Commission’s
recommendations began on the request of Prosecutor General Andrzej Burda of
14 November 1956. It resulted in the presentation on 10 February 1958 of a frame-
work plan for an investigation of the liability of military judges and prosecutors for
violating the rule of law in 1948-1954. The investigation was intended to cover
not only the activity of judges F. Aspis, T. Karczmarz, J. Krupski, and M. Widaj
(in accordance with the final motion of the Commission) but also O. Karliner and
P. Parzeniecki. In addition, the investigation was to be conducted with respect
to prosecutors S. Zarakowski and H. Ligieza (as recommended by the Commission)
and also M. Frenkiel, M. Litynski, J. Feldman and H. Wolifiski. Deputy Prosecutor
General, Wiadystaw Taraszkiewicz, sent that framework investigation plan to the
Prosecutor General with a request for consultation''’. However, already in the
letter of 12 May 1958, addressed to the General Prosecutor, he asked for refusal
to prosecute the persons covered by the framework investigation plan of 10 Feb-
ruary 1958, attaching draft decisions on instituting an investigation and presen-
ting charges to H. Ligieza and F. Aspis (this time as a prosecutor). It is unknown
whether the refusal to prosecute was granted nor whether the draft decisions on
the institution of new investigations were implemented. The only certain thing is
that until the end of the Peoples’ Republic of Poland no judge or prosecutor who
worked in 1944-1956 was brought before court''*. A question arises whether
they bore any consequences at all (apart from being transferred to the reserve still
before the Commission started work), whether the ban on working in the judi-
ciary was applied. Could they have been demoted? This is doubtful. It is known
that T. Karczmarz, not having any legal education, having been transferred to the
reserve on 5 August 1955, became a Supreme Court judge as soon as in August of
the same year and remained in that position until 30 April 1957. Hochberg was
delegated to the Supreme Court in May 1955 and, despite the ban on working in
the judiciary, held the position of a judge until 31 March 1957. Also Z. Krasuski
and K. Mioduski worked in the Military Chamber of the Supreme Court until
early 1970s'%5.

There was also an understood need to examine the activity of the general (as
opposed to military) prosecutors’ offices in terms of the observance of law by its
bodies. The initiative to establish a commission of this kind was presented at an open
meeting of the Basic Party Organization of the Polish United Workers’ Party by the
Prosecutor General’s Office. Following the resolution adopted at the meeting on
29 October 1956, the Prosecutor General set up a Commission for the examination
of violations of the rule of law by employees of the Prosecutor General’s Office

112 D. Maksimiuk, Rozliczanie stalinizmu na fali ‘odwilzy’ 1956 roku. Dokumenty archiwalne dotyczgce

odpowiedzialnosci sedzidw i prokuratoréw wojskowych za lamanie praworzgdnosci w latach 1948-1954,

Miscellanea Historico-Turidica 9(2010), 109-143.

Simultaneously, in the cover letter, he informed about the existence of a difference of positions among the

prosecutors dealing with the case.

114§, Maksimiuk, n. 112 supra, 115-116.

115 K. Szwagrzyk, Prawnicy czasu bezprawia. Sedziowie i prokuratorzy wojskowi w Polsce 1944-1956,
Krakéw—Wroctaw 2005, 343-344 and 378-379. Only O. Karliner was degraded to the rank of a private
by the order of the Minister of National Defence of 1980 — quoted after J. Poksifiski, n. 90 supra, 57,
80-81, 156, 276 and 283.
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and the Prosecutor’s Office of Warsaw!'. The Commission was initially chaired
by Marian Mazur, who was replaced on 14 March 1957 by Jan Wasilkowski.
Members of the Commission included prosecutors from the Prosecutor General’s
Office: Wojciech Gawlikowski, Antoni Hapan, M. Kulczycki, and J6zef Kucharski
(a voivodeship prosecutor delegated to the Prosecutor General’s Office).

The Commission based their studies on the examination of case files, trial
documents, complaints submitted by citizens, and statements made by employees
of the Prosecutor’s Office. The examinations brought much the same results as the
report of the so-called Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission, which examined military
investigation bodies and military courts.

The Commission established that what was the direct source of wrongdoings was
the submissive attitude of the then key staff of the prosecutor’s office vis-a-vis public
security bodies. The Commission pointed to a definitely negative role performed in
the Prosecutor General’s Office by the Special Department, which tolerated numer-
ous violations of the rule of law by the Ministry of Public Security. The Department
was supervised by Henryk Podlaski, previously Deputy Supreme Military Prosecutor
in charge of special cases and from September 1950 until the end of March 1955,
Deputy Prosecutor General of the Peoples’ Republic of Poland. Though at that time
the Prosecutor General was Stefan Kalinowski (not even a lawyer), it was H. Podlaski
who was actually in charge of the work of the general prosecutors’ offices. It was with
his active support that secret sections were established in general courts. H. Podlaski
exerted various forms of pressure on judges, not only judges of the secret sections.
At joint meetings of judges and prosecutors he chastised judges for being ‘guilty” of
passing ‘mild’ sentences. Prosecutors did not allow the defendants to disclose any
forms of extortion used against them in the course of the investigation. Investigation
procedures were initiated against judges who allowed for unauthorized and unlawful
practices of security bodies in the investigation to be revealed.

The Commission concluded that those guilty of violating the rule of law included,
apart from the top-ranking staff of the Prosecutor General’s Office, all prosecutors
working in the Special Department as well as several prosecutors from the Supreme
Military Prosecutor’s Office closely cooperating with the Prosecutor General’s Office.
Yet before the conclusion of the works of the Commission, S. Kalinowski, H. Podlaski,
Wiadystaw Dymant and Beniami Wajsblech were discharged from their positions.

The Commission presented a definitely negative assessment of three prosecu-
tors and concluded that they should be discharged from work in the prosecutor’s
office!”. As for the remaining six prosecutors, the Commission was of the opinion
that it was enough to have them transferred to field prosecutor’s offices!'®. The
Commission presented the report to the Prosecutor General of the Peoples’ Re-
public of Poland, Marian Mazur, motioning for a possibly fast implementation of
the recommendations.

After the breakthrough of October 1956, yet another commission was set
up by Zofia Wasilkowska, the then Minister of Justice. It was a Commission for

116 Report of the Commission of 11 April 1957 was published in Zeszyty Historyczne Paris, 67(1984).

"7 They were: Maciej Majster, Paulina Kern, and H. Wolinska.

118 They were: Kazimierz Kosztirko, Zofia Bielec, Jan Traczewski, Benedykt Jodelis, Mieczystaw Dytry, and
Zenon Rychlik.
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examining the work of the so-called secret sections operating in 1950-1954 at
the Ministry of Justice and also in the Court of Appeal and the Voivodeship Court
in Warsaw. The Commission included Supreme Court judge Julian Potepa as its
chairman, Prof. Stanistaw Ehrlich and doc. Leon Schaff from the University of
Warsaw, Prof. J6zef Liwtin from the University of £6dz, doc. Sylwester Zawadzki,
Vice-President of the Main Board of the Association of Polish Lawyers, Michat Kul-
czycki, President of the Supreme Bar Council, and Zygmunt Opuszynski, Director
of the Legislative Department of the Ministry of Justice. As soon as on 9 February
1957, the Commission presented a report after making an independent analysis
of 114 from among 506 cases heard in secret sections.

The irregularities found by the Commission in the examined cases were very
similar to those established by the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission. By way of an
example, [ will indicate the most serious of them. Temporary detentions measured
in years, hearings before the court of the 1% instance held most frequently in the
Mokotéw prison and latter in a special room in the court building, limited right of
defence (limitation of the list of defence attorneys permitted to defend, inability of
the defence attorneys to take notes from case files). Judgments were issued on the
basis of scarce and dubious evidence. Frequently, sentences were passed merely on
the basis of self-incrimination or testimonies of ‘witnesses’ (actually co-defendants) in
spite of testimonies being withdrawn due to extortion in the course of investigation.
Judges did not respond to any complaints about the use of extortion even when signs
of torture were shown at the hearing. Simultaneously, the Commission examining
the cases of the so-called secret sections correctly, although as if in justification, un-
derlined that the course of trials held in secret sections did not differ from the trials
conducted outside of the secret sections at the same time. Unfortunately, the Com-
mission did not attempt to assess the prosecutors involved in secret trials, limiting
themselves to passing the information obtained to the Prosecutor General’s Office.

Opinions of the Commission members differed. Some members themselves justified
the system and the law of the Stalinist period. According to Prof. Ehrlich, ‘a group of
people can be identified who should possibly be made criminally liable’. Prof. Schaff, on
the other hand, believed, though the criminal trial was his specialty, that ‘adjudication
in a secret section was court proceedings and thus it should not in itself discriminate
the judges who took part in it’'"®. Unsurprisingly, the recommendations of the Com-
mission that disciplinary proceedings be instituted against five most active judges
were passed by a majority of votes. Those were judges: Ilia Rubinow — responsible
for the secret section in the Warsaw courts; Emil Merz — responsible for the secret
section in the Supreme Court; Marian Stgpczynski, Kazimierz Czajkowski, and Feliks
Roszkowski (information about F. Roszkowski is missing). Disciplinary procedures
was initiated against the first four of them, which ended with sentences passed by the
Supreme Court, acting as the Higher Disciplinary Court, on 31 December 1957'2°,

Only I. Rubinow was found guilty of infringing on the dignity of the office of a judge
with violation of fundamental principles of the rule of law in connection with heading
the so-called secret section in the period from September 1950 to September 1955.

1 | Kubiak, Sekcja tajna, Prawo i Zycie 31(1991).
120 The first sentence ref. No. SDW 18/57 covered all four of them, the second one, with ref. No. SDW 35/57
covered only M. Stepczyniski.
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He received a disciplinary punishment of being transferred to the reserve without
a decline in salary, while being acquitted of part of the charges'!.

The proceedings against K. Czajkowski and E. Merz were discontinued on the as-
sumption that their professional errors referred to the period not extending beyond
1950 and thus over five years had elapsed from the initiation of the proceedings
and, moreover Merz was found not guilty of having created and administered the
secret section at the Supreme Court.

M. Stepczyniski was acquitted from all the charges in both sentences. The court
dismissed the charge of failure to reveal in the records of hearings of the complaints
of B. Chajecki, E. Grzybowski and A. Jaroszewicz about torture being applied in the
course of their investigations. In the Court’s view there were no grounds to accept
the existence of ‘ill will’ on the part of the accused or to adjudicate against better
knowledge. While examining the case, the Disciplinary Court completely ignored
the fact that M. Stepczynski (while a bench member) pronounced a death penalty on
B. Chajecki without any grounds whatsoever (the sentence was carried out)'?%. Also
the remaining charges (of contributing to passing a death penalty in contravention of
regulations as well as to sentencing for 10 years’ imprisonment in spite of absence of
features of an offence) were dismissed. In the statement of reasons for the acquittal
judgment, the Disciplinary Court stated that judge M. Stepczynski ‘while examining
the cases in point, exhibited high qualifications in the field of court practice and legal
knowledge’. In this way, judge M. Stepczyniski was given full recognition for his activ-
ity in the secret section. It should thus be reminded that it was judge M. Stepczyniski
who took part (as a bench member) in imposing death penalty on: Z. Ejme and
J. Czerwiakowski (sentences executed) as well as K. Moczarski, E. Krak and J. Rycelski,
while their rehabilitation trials revealed complete lack of grounds for their sentences'?.

In spite of the fact that, as Prof. Adam Litynski correctly observed, the Commission
attempted to soften the drastic picture of the activity of courts in secret sections and relieve
judges of liability for violating the law, occasionally to the point of a judicial murder'?*,
no effort was spared in order not to make the Commission’s report known to the public.

Z. Wasilkowska, who was an adherent of making the conclusions reached by the
Commission available to the public, was dismissed from her post shortly after pre-
paring the report. The report in its full text version was not made available even
to the Parliamentary Committee for the Judiciary'?.

It should be added that judges who had played a negative role in the secret sections,
not only did not lose the trust of the authorities, but were even in a way rewarded
for their activity. Judge M. Stepczyniski, who was delegated to perform the duties of

121 He was acquitted of secretly keeping records of cases of the secret section, exerting administrative pres-

sure concerning the judgments made by judges and refusing to provide families with information on what
happened to the accused.
122 The Military Court judgment of the Military Law Court for the capital city of Warsaw of 16 May 1958, ended
with full rehabilitation, proved that B. Chajecki, who was tortured in the investigation, did not commit the
crimes of espionage and the crimes defined in the August Decree on the punishment for fascist-Nazi criminals
guilty of murder and torture of civilians and prisoners of war as well as traitors to the Polish nation.
J. Rycelski, K. Moczarski and E. Krak were acquitted already in 1956 and in those trials the application
of torture in investigations was revealed.
124 A. Lityfiski, n. 8 supra, 172.
125 D. Maksymiuk, Jeszcze w sprawie sekcji tajnych w sadownictwie polskim w latach piecdziesigtych XX wieku,
11 Miscellanea Historico-Iuridica 407(2012), p. 407.
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a Supreme Court judge from 16 December 1955, became a Supreme Court judge
on 16 September 1958 and remained in this position until his death in 1964'2¢, Also
E. Merz and K. Czajkowski continued to be Supreme Court judges, the former until
1962 and the latter until 1972.

Although only very few of the conclusions and recommendations of the Commis-
sion were implemented, their crucial role was to recognize the immense scale of the
lawlessness in the activity of bodies established specifically to ensure the observance
of law. The role of the report of the Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission examining
the activity of military investigation bodies and military courts should be assessed as
positive. The thorough analysis made by that Commission, preceded by rehabilita-
tion trials in the cases of the so-called ‘conspiracy in the army’, resulted in specific
manifestations of the rule of law violation being named, in particular, the notion of
a judicial murder was introduced, and allowed for an attempt to identify the people
responsible for violations of law.

Abstract

Maria Stanowska, First Attempts at Undoing the Consequences
of Violating the Rule of Law in 1944-1956

The article discusses initiatives taken in the mid-1950s to examine the state of the rule of
law in 1944-1956 in courts, prosecutor’s offices, Polish Army Intelligence Service and public
security authorities. Attention is given primarily to the Report of the Mazur (Wasilewski)
Commission, which was established as a result of an agreement between the Minister of Ju-
stice, the Minister of National Defence, and the Prosecutor General. The Commission’s task
was to determine the extent of violations of the rule of law by the Supreme Military Court,
the Supreme Military Prosecutor’s Office and the Military Intelligence Service. The article
discusses in detail the manifestations of violations of the rule of law disclosed by the Com-
mission, often criminal in character, as well as the specific conclusions with proposals of a va-
riety of consequences for the people guilty of violating the rule of law in the aforementioned
authorities. The Report findings are presented against the background of the rehabilitation
proceedings conducted with respect to the victims of the alleged ‘conspiracy in the army’. Also
discussed are the works of two other Commissions dealing with the examination of violations
of the rule of law in general courts and prosecutor’s offices. The Prosecutor General establi-
shed a Commission for examining the state of the rule of law in the Prosecutor General’s
Office and in the Prosecutor’s Office in Warsaw, while the Minister of Justice set up a Com-
mission for examining the work of the so-called secret sections operating in 1950-1954 at the
Ministry of Justice, in the Court of Appeal and the Voivodeship Court in Warsaw.

I also present the results of the first criminal trials conducted against public security and
Military Intelligence Service officers guilty of the application of inadmissible and unautho-
rized methods in the course of investigation.

Keywords: detention, summary proceedings, convictions, death penalty, judicial crime,
judicial murder, infringing on the dignity of the judicial office, rule of law, crimes
particularly dangerous at the time of rebuilding the country, military courts, Supreme
Military Court, secret sections, Polish Committee of National Liberation, Ministry of
Public Security, Mazur (Wasilewski) Commission, Wasilkowska’s Commission

126 Tn 1963 he was honoured with the Officer’s Cross of the Order of Polonia Restituta.

127 Together with Igor Andrejew and Gustaw Auscaler he had his share in upholding the judgment sentencing
to death A.E. Fieldorf, who was fully rehabilitated in 1989. The investigation into the judicial murder of Gen.
Fieldorf was instituted in 1992. At present, none of those suspected of participation in that murder is alive.
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Streszczenie

Maria Stanowska, Pierwsze proby naprawienia skutkow tamania
praworzgdnosci w latach 1944-1956

W artykule omdwiono dzialania podjete w polowie lat 50. XX w. w celu zbadania stanu
praworzgdnosci w latach 1944-1956 w sgdach, prokuraturach oraz organach Informacji
Wojska Polskiego i bezpieczernstwa publicznego. Najwiecej uwagi poswiecono Raportowi
Komisji Mazura (Wasilewskiego), powstalej w wyniku porozumienia Ministra Sprawiedli-
wosci, Ministra Obrony Narodowej i Prokuratora Generalnego, ktérej zadaniem bylo usta-
lenie zakresu naruszania praworzqdnosci przez Najwyzszy Sgd Wojskowy, Naczelng Proku-
rature Wojskowq oraz organy Informacji Wojskowej. W artykule szczegétowo omdéwiono
ustalone przez Komisje przejawy lamania praworzgdnosci bedgce niejednokrotnie dzia-
laniami przestepczymi, a takze konkretne wnioski z propozycjami réznego rodzaju kon-
sekwencji wobec 0s6b winnych lamania praworzgdnosci w tych organach. Przedstawiono
wyniki Raportu na tle dzialan rehabilitacyjnych prowadzonych wobec ofiar rzekomego
Spisku w wojsku”. Omdowiono takze dzialania dwdch innych komisji zajmujgcych sie
badaniem przejawow lamania praworzgdnosci w powszechnych sgdach i prokuraturze.
Prokurator Generalny powotal Komisje do zbadania stanu praworzgdnosci w Generalnej
Prokuraturze i Prokuraturze miasta stolecznego Warszawy, zas Minister Sprawiedliwosci
— Komisje do zbadania pracy tzw. sekcji tajnych dzialajgcych w latach 1950-1954 w Mi-
nisterstwie Sprawiedliwosci oraz w Sgdach: Apelacyjnym i Wojewddzkim w Warszawie.
Poznajemy tez rezultaty pierwszych proceséw karnych prowadzonych wobec funkcjonariu-
szy organdw bezpieczeristwa publicznego oraz Informacji Wojskowej winnych stosowania
niedozwolonych metod podczas sledztwa.

Stowa kluczowe: areszt, tryb dorainy, wyroki skazujgce, kara smierci, zbrodnia
sgdowa, mord sgdowy, uchybienie godnosci urzedu sedziowskiego, praworzgdnosé,
organy Informacji Wojska Polskiego, sqdy wojskowe, Najwyzszy Sgd Wojskowy,
Naczelna Prokuratura Wojskowa, sekcje tajne, Ministerstwo Bezpieczeristwa Publicznego,
Komisja Mazura/Wasilewskiego, Komisja Wasilkowskiej, dzialania rehabilitacyjne
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